# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-25-2016

# Fisher v. Garrison Property and Cas. Ins. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44117

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. <u>Nature of the Case</u>

This case involves the interpretation of a homeowners policy issued by Respondent to Appellant for real property located at 2510 N. 34<sup>th</sup> Street, Boise, Idaho. The structure and attached fixtures were completely destroyed by the tenant, and Appellant sought to be reimbursed for the losses under the Policy. Respondent denied Appellant's claim, citing exclusions under the Policy. This District Court granted summary judgment in favor of Respondent, holding that the exclusions applied and that there was no coverage for the losses. Appellant appeals that decision, and seeks an order from this Court that, based upon the uncontested facts and the plain language of the Policy, there is coverage for the losses and the exclusions do not apply.

#### B. Statement of Facts

Appellant Shammie Fisher owns real property located at 2510 N. 34<sup>th</sup> Street, Boise, Idaho. On or about November 5, 2008, USAA Casualty Insurance Company issued Appellant a Homeowners Insurance Policy for the residence located at 2510 N. 34<sup>th</sup> Street, which at that time was her primary residence. The Policy was renewed annually by USAA and/or for Garrison Property and Casualty Company (hereafter "Garrison"). The Policy in effect from the period March 8, 2013 to March 8, 2014, is attached to the Amended Complaint as Exhibit A (R. at 11).

The Policy states in the Declarations that the Described Location is 2510 N. 34<sup>th</sup> Street, Boise, Ada County, Idaho. *See* Policy, Declarations (R. at 13). At the time the Policy was issued, the Described Location was used principally for dwelling purposes. Amended Complaint, at ¶. 7 (R. at 7); Aff. of Shammie Fisher at ¶ 2 (R. at 84).

In February of 2012, Appellant signed a contract for lease to own ("Lease") of the Property with Ron Reynosa ("Reynosa"). The Lease was for a 1 year term, ending on March  $31^{st}$ , 2013, with the option for a 6 month extension ending on Sept 1, 2013. *See* Aff. of Shammie Fisher, at ¶ 3-4, and Ex. A (R. at 84; 88). Within the first two months, Appellant was notified that the entire home had been leveled by Mr. Reynosa, destroying both the structure and the fixtures therein. *Id.* at ¶ 5 (R. at 84). Photographs of the property before and after the destruction are attached as Exhibit C and D, to the Affidavit of Shammie Fisher. (R. at 116; 118). Appellant had no knowledge that Mr. Reynosa intended to destroy the home when he leased the Property. *Id.* at ¶ 6 (R. at 84).

Reynosa subsequently defaulted on the Lease and left town, informing Appellant in September 2013 that he did not intend to rebuild the home he had destroyed. *Id.* at ¶ 7 (R. at 84).

On or about September 27, 2013, Appellant submitted a Proof of Loss seeking coverage under the Policy for the losses to the dwelling and the personal property therein. By letter of December 5, 2013, Garrison denied coverage for the loss. Amended Complaint, at ¶. 14 (R. at 46); Answer to Amended Complaint, at ¶ 14 (R. at 74).

Both parties filed motions for summary judgment before the District Court, arguing that the facts were not in dispute. The District Court found that the loss was covered under the Policy (R. at 228-29), but held that the exclusion for faulty or inadequate construction or renovation applied and granted summary judgment in favor of Respondent. The District Court erred in holding that the exclusion applied because that exclusion is intended to apply to situations where an insured is involved in some way or has knowledge of plans to repair or remodel property.

This case is not one where the insured hired or contracted with a third party to do repairs or renovations that were either incomplete or poorly done. This is a case where a lessee/buyer, who was to be living in the residence and had the option of making cosmetic improvements while residing there, tore the residence down to the foundation. This act of destruction was not part of any valid contract, was unauthorized and was done without the knowledge of the Appellant. After the destruction was discovered, the Appellant did not then enter into a "contract" with the lessee to have the damage repaired. Rather, she allowed the lessee to continue to pay rent and attempt to fix the property damage he had caused in an attempt to mitigate her damages. There is no evidence in the record that the tenant actually completed any work to fix the damage he caused or made any repairs. This is not the type of factual situation that is covered by the exclusions in the Policy.

#### II. ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the District Court err when it determined that the insurance policy did not provide insurance coverage for Plaintiff's claimed losses to real and personal property, granting summary judgment in favor Respondent?

- 2. Did the District Court err in determining that there were questions of fact as to the issue of whether the intentional loss exclusion in the policy applied, and in failing to grant summary judgment in favor of the Plaintiff on that issue?
- 3. Did the District Court err in holding that the exclusion for faulty, inadequate and/or defective work applied in this case?

#### **III. ARGUMENT**

#### A. Legal Standards

In reviewing a district court's grant of summary judgment, this Court has held that "it uses the same standard properly employed by the district court originally ruling on the motion." *Rizzo v. State Farm Ins. Co.*, 155 Idaho 75, 79, 305 P.3d 519, 523 (2013) (citations omitted). Summary judgment is proper "if the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." I.R.C.P. 56(c).

In general, "policies of insurance, as other contracts, are to be construed in their ordinary meaning, and where the language employed is clear and unambiguous, there is no occasion to construe a policy differently than manifested by the plain words therein." *Porter v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Idaho*, 102 Idaho 132, 136, 627 P.2d 311, 315 (1981). However, the Idaho Supreme Court has clearly explained certain special rules to be applied relative to construction of policies of insurance:

Interpretation of an ambiguous document presents a question of fact. On the other hand, interpretation of an unambiguous document is a question of law. Further, insurance policies are a matter of contract between the insurer and the insured. So, interpretation of an unambiguous insurance contract is a question of law subject to free review. But, where there is an ambiguity in an insurance contract, special rules of construction apply to protect the insured. Under these special rules, insurance policies are to be construed most liberally in favor of recovery, with all ambiguities being resolved in favor of the insured. Finally, the meaning of the insurance policy and the intent of the parties must be determined from the plain meaning of the insurance policy's own words.

*Hall v. Farmers Alliance Mut. Ins. Co.*, 145 Idaho 313, 179 P.3d 276 (2008). The foregoing rules apply to construction of the applicable Policy provisions. In this case, the clear language of

the Policy provides coverage for Appellant's loss.

There is no dispute as to the Policy in place at the time of the loss. See Amended

Complaint, at 5, Ex A; Answer, at ¶ 5 (R. at 11-31; 33). The Named Insured in the Policy is

Shammie L. Fisher and the Described Location is 2510 N. 34<sup>th</sup> Street, Boise, Ada, ID. Policy

Declarations, at 3. The Dwelling Policy provides coverage for the following:

We cover:

1. The Dwelling on the Described Location shown in the Declarations, used principally for dwelling purposes, including structures attached to the dwelling;

Policy, at 2 (R. at 21). The District Court noted that Respondent had not offered any opposition to the argument that the loss of her residence was a direct loss covered by the Policy, and thus granted summary judgment on the issue of whether the direct loss of the residence was covered

by the Policy. Decision, at 6-7 (R. at 228-29). This decision is not at issue in this appeal.

The District Court then correctly noted that, once it is established that the loss is covered, the burden shifts to the Respondent to demonstrate that an exclusion applies. Decision, at 7 (R. at 229). Accordingly, Respondent bears the burden of proving that its asserted exclusions are applicable in this case:

> Furthermore, an insurance policy will generally be construed so that the insurer bears the burden of proving that the asserted exclusion is applicable.

Perry v. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co., 130 Idaho 100, 103, 936 P.2d 1342, 1345 (Ct. App. 1997)
(citing Viani v. Aetna Ins. Co., 95 Idaho 22, 501 P.2d 706 (1972); Harman v. Northwestern
Mutual Life Ins. Co., 91 Idaho 719, 429 P.2d 849 (1967)). Respondent did not meet that burden in this case.

Additionally, if language the of the exclusion is "ambiguous," in that it lends itself to more than one possible interpretation, the court "must resolve any doubt in favor of the insured, strictly construing the contract against the drafter." *Farmers Ins. Group v. Sessions*, 100 Idaho 914, 916, 607 P.2d 422, 424 (1980) (citing *Abbie Uriguen Olds., Buick, Inc., v. United States Fire Ins. Co.*, 95 Idaho 501, 511 P.2d 783 (1973); *Stephens v. New Hampshire Ins. Co.*, 92 Idaho 537, 447 P.2d 14 (1968)).

In this case, Respondent did not meet its burden of demonstrating that either exclusion cited by it applied to the facts in this case, and summary judgment should have been granted in

favor of Appellant and against Respondent on the issue of coverage for the losses.

## B. <u>The Intentional Loss Exclusion Does Not Apply and the</u> <u>District Court Erred in Failing To Grant Summary Judgment</u> <u>in Favor of Appellant on that Issue</u>

The first exclusion raised by Respondent as a basis for denying coverage for the dwelling

and fixtures is the exclusion for intentional loss, which provides:

We do not insure for loss caused directly or indirectly by any of the following.

h. **Intentional Loss**, meaning any loss arising out of any act committed:

- (1) by or at the direction of you or any person or organization named as an additional insured; and
- (2) with the intent to cause a loss.

Policy, at 7-8 (R. at 26-27).

. . .

In this case, there is absolutely no evidence that Ron Reynoso destroyed the dwelling and fixtures at the Insured Location "at the direction" of Appellant or that Appellent directed the destruction of her property with "intent to cause a loss." The undisputed facts demonstrate that Ron Reynoso leased the property with the intent to purchase it, that he represented to the Appellant that he would live in the dwelling during the time he leased it as his primary residence, that he would make certain improvements to the dwelling such as updating the flooring, bathroom and kitchen countertops and other cosmetic "improvements" and would be attempting to resell the property at a later date. *See* Fisher Aff., at ¶ 6, 9, and Ex. A (R. at 84-85; 88-102). There is absolutely no evidence that Ron Reynoso was authorized to tear down or otherwise

destroy the dwelling or fixtures or that Appellant was aware he intended to do so. *Id.* at  $\P$  6, 9 (R. at 84-84). Likewise, there is no evidence that Appellant directed him to destroy the property with the intent to cause a loss. Accordingly, the exclusion for intentional loss does not apply.

As to the intentional loss exclusion, the District Court erred in denying Appellant's motion for summary judgment because the material facts regarding Appellant's directing or authorizing the acts which caused the loss were not in dispute. Specifically, the District Court erred in holding that "whether Reynoso's activities were authorized by Fisher presents genuine issues of material fact which preclude summary judgment on the issue of whether the intentional loss exclusion applies." Decision, at 9 (R. at 231).

In looking at whether Reynoso's acts were authorized, it is important to determine when the acts causing the loss occurred. The loss was the unauthorized tear down of the property. Thus, in determining whether the exclusion applies, the District Court should only have focused on the evidence of direction of Appellant with the intent to cause a loss *prior* to the total destruction of the residence. Prior to the destruction of the residence, the only evidence in the record regarding Appellant's direction to Reynoso was her Affidavit and the Purchase and Sale Agreement. The Purchase and Sale Agreement's provision regarding improvements Mr. Reynoso intended to make to the property provided only that "Buyer intends to make certain improvements to the property upon possession, with the intent to sell the property for a profit . . . the Buyer is required to give a monthly update for plans/upgrades." Purchase and Sale Agreement, Addendum, at 1, ¶ 9 (R. at 96). The only evidence in the record concerning the "improvements" to the property contemplated by the parties comes from the Affidavit of Shammie Fischer, wherein she stated that the "improvements" contemplated by the parties included such things as new flooring or upgrades to the kitchen and bathroom floors and counters. Fisher Aff., at ¶ 9 (R. at 85). There was no discussion or agreement for the Buyer to demolish or rebuild any portion of the premises or remodel the structure. Id. This is consistent with the fact that the Buyer indicated that he intended to use the property as his primary residence during the term of the lease/purchase. See id.; Purchase and Sale Agreement ("Purchase and Sale Agreement"), at 4, ¶ 19 (R. at 91). The Purchase and Sale Agreement authorized Reynoso to make some cosmetic improvements if he so chose while residing in the Property. However, the purpose of the Real Estate Purchase Agreement was to sell the Property and to Lease it to Reynoso prior to a sale. The purpose of the contract was not for Plaintiff to hire Reynoso to perform repair or remodel services. Authorizing a tenant to make cosmetic improvements to a property while living in it is very different from hiring someone to make repairs or improvements to the Property. Making the cosmetic improvements was not required under the contract between Plaintiff and Reynoso, nor was Reynoso to be compensated for any improvements he made. He was merely authorized under the contract to make cosmetic improvements if he chose to for his own benefit. Accordingly, the undisputed evidence in the record regarding Appellant's authorization of Reynoso's acts in tearing down and destroying the residence prior to the loss

demonstrate that she <u>did not</u> authorize <u>any remodel or renovation that required tearing down or</u> <u>destroying the residence</u> or that she directed that the acts causing the loss be done.

Additionally, the District Court did not even address the second part of the exclusion, which requires not only that the action be taken at the direction of the insured but that it be taken "with the intent to cause a loss." There can be no claim in this case that the mere fact that Appellant had authorized Ron Reynoso to make "certain improvements" to the dwelling that were cosmetic in nature translates to her directing the actions of Ron Reynoso leased the property with the intent to purchase it, and that he represented to the Appellant that he would live in the dwelling during the time he leased it as his primary residence. The fact that Appellant reasonably believed Ron Reynoso was going to live in the dwelling as his primary residence demonstrates that she did not direct that he destroy it with the intent to cause a loss under the Policy. There is simply no evidence that Plaintiff directed, or even authorized, him to destroy the property with the intent to cause a loss.

The only way the District Court could have found a factual dispute as to whether the acts of Reynoso causing the loss were authorized with the intent to cause a loss is if it was looking at acts occurring *after* the complete tear down of the residence: *after* the acts causing the loss. In that regard, Respondent had argued that *after* Appellant found out about the total destruction of the residence, she allowed Ron Reynoso to continue to pay rent and allowed him time to follow through on his promises to rebuild the residence (which he did not do). This, Respondent contends, is evidence of her directing the acts of Ron Reynoso with the intent to cause a loss. It is not. Whether or not Appellant acquiesced in Reynoso attempting to rebuild the property in an attempt to mitigate her damages, *after* the acts causing the loss were complete, is not relevant or material to the question of whether the loss arose out of any act committed "by or at the direction" of the Appellant with "with the intent to cause a loss." The subsequent promises to rebuild the residence and fix the damage Reynoso had caused are not the loss. The loss was the destruction of the residence as demonstrated by the before and after pictures at Ex. C and D of the Affidavit of Shammie Fischer. There is simply no evidence that the destruction of the residence occurred at the direction of or even with the knowledge of Appellant with the intent to cause a loss and thus the District Court should have granted Appellant's motion for summary judgment on the issue of the application of the intentional loss exclusion.

## C. <u>The District Court Erred in Holding that the Exclusion For</u> <u>Faulty, Inadequate and/or Defective Work Applied in This</u> <u>Case</u>

The District Court held that the exclusion for faulty or inadequate repair, renovation of remodeling applied in this case and concluded that there was no coverage for Appellant's loss, granting summary judgment in favor of the Respondent. The Idaho Supreme Court does not appear to have interpreted a clause like this, and thus, the issue was a matter of first impression in Idaho. The District Court therefore relied upon decisions from other jurisdictions in reaching its conclusion. However, the decisions relied upon by the District Court are distinguishable, and the District Court erred in ignoring decisions from other jurisdictions which were on point and provided persuasive authority in support of Appellant's claim that the exclusion did not apply.

Given the burden imposed upon the insurance company to prove that the exclusion applies, *see Perry v. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co.*, 130 Idaho at 103, 936 P.2d at 1345, and given the persuasive authority from other jurisdictions interpreting the same exclusion and finding that it did not prevent claims such as the Appellant's, the District Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Respondent. Rather, based upon the undisputed facts of record and based upon the language of the exclusion, the District Court should have found that the exclusion did not apply and should have granted summary judgment in favor of Appellant, not Respondent.

The exclusion for faulty or inadequate repair, renovation or remodeling, provides:

We do not insure for loss to property described in Coverages A and B caused by . . .

c. Faulty, inadequate or defective;

. . .

- (2) design, specifications, workmanship, repair, construction, renovation, remodeling, grading, compaction;
- (3) materials used in repair, construction, renovation or remodeling; or

(4) maintenance; of part or all of any property whether on or off the Described Location. Policy, at 8 (R. at 27). The exclusion for faulty, inadequate or defective maintenance does not apply at all in this case as there are no claims involving maintenance of the dwelling. Likewise, there are not claims based upon faulty, inadequate or defective materials used in construction. Rather, the claim in this case is that Ron Reynoso tore down Plaintiff's dwelling and destroyed it and the fixtures in it, without authorization or direction to do so. The District Court incorrectly concluded that those acts were faulty, inadequate or defective workmanship, repair, construction, renovation or remodeling, and that the exclusion applied.

The Idaho appellate courts do not appear to have addressed the issue of whether a faulty workmanship, construction or renovation clause in an insurance policy acts as a bar to a claim based upon the unauthorized demolition of a residence by a renter. Thus, this is a case of first impression in Idaho. Other courts, however, have interpreted exclusions in policies with the same language to apply only to situations where the work was performed by the insured or someone authorized by the insured. This makes sense because it is generally understood that actions involving construction, renovation, remodeling, grading, compaction and maintenance are not performed by persons other than an owner of real property or by someone hired by them to do such work.

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