## Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-20-2016

# Fisher v. Garrison Property and Cas. Ins. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44117

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

#### III. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standards of Review.

#### 1. Standard of Review for Grant of Summary Judgment.

In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, this Court's standard of review is the same as the district court's standard in ruling upon the motion. *Thomson v. Lewiston*, 137 Idaho 473, 475-476, 50 P.3d 488, 490-491 (2002). This Court will review the record before the district court, including the pleadings, depositions, admissions and affidavits, if any, to determine *de novo* whether, after construing the facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, there exists any genuine issues of material fact and whether the successful movant below is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Tusch Enterprises v. Coffin*, 113 Idaho 37, 40, 740 P.2d 1022, 1026 (1987); I.R.C.P. 56(c).

#### 2. Standard of Review for Denial of Summary Judgment.

It is well settled in Idaho that "[a]n order denying a motion for summary judgment is an interlocutory order from which no direct appeal may be taken." *Dominguez, ex rel. Hamp v. Evergreen RES., Inc.,* 142 Idaho 7, 13, 121 P.3d 938, 944 (2005) (citation omitted). This rule is not altered by entry of an appealable final judgment. *Id.* 

#### 3. Standard of Review for Contract Interpretation.

Where a contract is clear and unambiguous, the determination of the effect of a contractual provision is a question of law to be decided by the Court. *Tolley v. T.H.I. Co.*, 140 Idaho 253, 92 P.3d 503 (2004). The interpretation of the legal effect of a policy of insurance is a question of law over which this Court exercises *de novo* review. *Howard v. Oregon Mutual Ins. Co.*, 137 Idaho 214, 46 P.3d 510 (2002). Interpreting contracts and applying the law to undisputed facts constitutes matters of law which this Court reviews *de novo. Polk v. Larrabee*, 135 Idaho 303, 308, 17 P.3d 247, 252 (2000).

#### B. Analysis.

#### 1. Coverage is Not in Dispute Nor an Issue on Appeal.

Fisher sets forth the following issue on appeal:

1. Did the district court err when it determined that the insurance policy did not provide insurance coverage for Plaintiff's claimed losses to real and personal property, granting summary judgment in favor of Respondent?

(Appellant's Brief, p. 3.) The district court did not grant summary judgment in favor of Garrison that there was no coverage for the loss. The district court granted summary judgment in favor of Fisher on that issue:

There is no genuine issue of any material fact; the direct loss to the residence is a loss covered by the policy. The Court will grant partial summary judgment to Fisher as to this issue.

(R., p. 229.) It is unusual for an Appellant to seek reversal of a grant of partial summary judgment in his or her favor. This issue is not (or should not be) an issue on appeal. The only issue on appeal is whether the property damage loss is excluded from coverage.

2. The District Court's Denial of the Cross Motions for Summary Judgment
Regarding the Application of the Intentional Loss Exclusion is Not
Appealable.

The district court denied the cross motions for summary judgment on whether the intentional loss exclusion applied to Fisher's loss. (R., p. 231.) Fisher appeals from that denial. (Appellant's Brief, pp. 4, 8, 11.)

Fisher cannot appeal from the denial of the cross motions for summary judgment.

Dominguez, 142 Idaho at 13, 121 P.3d at 944. Asking this Court to review and overturn the district court's denial of the cross motions for summary judgment should be rejected.

3. The District Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment to Garrison that Fisher's Loss to the Dwelling was Excluded by the Faulty, Inadequate or Defective Work Exclusion.

The district court held that the faulty, inadequate or defective work exclusion applies to Fisher's loss as follows:

In this case, the Court has considered the language of the faulty, inadequate or defective work exclusion, and finds that the language is clear and unambiguous. There is an exclusion for any loss attributable to faulty, inadequate or defective work. The Court finds that the loss here was caused directly by faulty[,] inadequate or defective work as set forth in the exclusion. The policy excludes coverage for any and all faulty, inadequate and/or defective work.

Fisher has demonstrated that the direct loss was covered under the policy. Garrison has shown that the faulty, inadequate or defective work exclusion applies to Reynoso's incomplete construction work. . . .

(R., p. 236, 237.) The district court further held "that there is no genuine issue of material fact as to whether the faulty, inadequate or defective work exclusion applies; it does." (R., p. 237.) Fisher agrees there are no genuine issues of material fact relating to application of the faulty, inadequate or defective work exclusion.

Rather, based upon the undisputed facts of record and based upon the language of the exclusion, the District Court should have found that the exclusion did not apply and should have granted summary judgment in favor of Appellant, not Respondent.

#### (Appellant's Brief, p. 12.)

Nor does Fisher dispute the district court's finding that the language of the faulty, inadequate or defective work exclusion is clear and unambiguous. (R., p. 236.) Appellant appeals from the district court opinion "and seeks an order from this Court that, based upon the uncontested facts and the plain language of the policy, there is no coverage for the losses and the exclusions do not apply." (Appellant's Brief, p. 1.) (*See also* Appellant's Brief, p. 5, "In this case, the clear language of the policy provides coverage for Appellant's loss".)

Because there is agreement between and among the district court, Fisher and Garrison that the faulty, inadequate and defective work exclusion is clear and unambiguous and that the material facts are undisputed, this Court, using the rules of construction described below, can determine whether the loss is excluded from coverage as a matter of law.

An insurance policy will generally be construed so that the insurer bears the burden of proving that the asserted exclusion is applicable. *Harman v. Northwestern Mutual Life Ins. Co.*, 91 Idaho 719, 721, 429 P.2d 849, 851 (1967). "The language of standardized contracts must

necessarily be somewhat general, in anticipation of varying circumstances and facts." *Foster v. Johnstone*, 107 Idaho 61, 65, 685 P.2d 802, 806 (1984). "There is no obligation on courts to countenance a tortured construction of an insurance contract's language in order to create an ambiguity and thus provide an avenue for coverage where none exists." *Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Roberts*, 128 Idaho 232, 236, 912 P.2d 119, 123 (1996). "A contract must be interpreted according to the plain meaning of the words used if the language is clear and unambiguous." *Hill v. American Family Mut. Ins. Co.*, 150 Idaho 619, 622, 249 P.3d 812, 815 (2011).

Where policy language is found to be unambiguous, this Court is to construe the policy as written, "and the Court by construction cannot create a liability not assumed by the insurer nor make a new contract for the parties, or one different from that plainly intended, nor add words to the contract of insurance to either create or avoid liability." *Armstrong v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Idaho*, 147 Idaho 67, 69, 205 P.3d 1203, 1205 (2009) (quoting *Purvis v. Progressive Casualty Ins. Co.*, 142 Idaho 213, 216, 127 P.3d 116, 119 (2005)). Common, non-technical words are given the meaning applied by laymen in daily usage in order to effect the intent of the parties. *Armstrong*, 147 Idaho at 69, 205 P.3d at 205.

The *de novo* review by this Court is thereby limited to applying the clear and unambiguous language of the faulty, inadequate or defective work exclusion to the undisputed facts to determine whether Fisher's loss is excluded from coverage.

a. <u>Fisher's Loss is Excluded by the Plain Meaning of the Faulty, Inadequate</u> or Defective Work Exclusion.

Fisher's policy provides coverage for her dwelling. (R., p. 60.) The peril insured against is the risk of direct loss to her dwelling if that loss is a physical loss to the property. (*Id.* at p. 63.) (Appendix A.) A "loss" is generally defined as:

3. *Insurance*. The amount of financial detriment caused by . . . an insured property's damage, for which the insurer becomes liable.

BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY, 8th Ed., p. 963. There is no dispute that Fisher suffered a direct, physical loss to her property – an incomplete, uninhabitable house.

The policy excludes from coverage any loss to property caused by any of the following:

#### c. Faulty, inadequate or defective;

. .

(2) design, specifications, workmanship, repair, construction, renovation, remodeling, grading, compaction;

. .

of part or all of any property whether on or off the Described Location.

(R., p. 66.) (Appendix A.) The loss here resulted from faulty, inadequate or defective workmanship, repair, construction, renovation and/or remodeling of the dwelling, leaving it, to her financial detriment, in an incomplete state.

The relevant terms in the faulty, inadequate and defective work exclusion have the following common, non-technical definitions used by laymen in daily use:

- 1. Inadequate not adequate; insufficient
- 2. Defective having a defect; faulty
- 3. Faulty containing a fault or faults; imperfect
  - a. Workmanship the quality of such art, skill or technique
  - b. Repair to restore to sound condition after damage or injury; fix; the work, act or process of repairing

- c. Construction the act or process of constructing; the state of being constructed; the way in which something is put together
- d. Renovation to make new; to restore to a previous condition, as by remodeling
- e. Remodeling to remake with a new structure

WEBSTER II NEW COLLEGE DICTIONARY, 558, 295, 409, 1272, 939, 242 and 937 (1999).

The undisputed facts show that the buyer/lessee Reynoso was to make certain improvements to the dwelling. By definition, improvements involve workmanship, construction, renovation and/or remodeling. Those improvements were not completed and were therefore inadequate, defective or faulty. Any loss based on "certain improvements" to the dwelling is excluded by the plain language of the exclusion.

In the process of improving the property for resale (the Lease-Purchase Agreement does not limit the improvements), Reynoso tore down, or as Fisher labels it "destroyed" the dwelling. By definition, this also involves construction (demolition is a process of construction), renovation (demolition is a process related to renovating existing structures), and remodeling (demolition is part and parcel of remodeling). After the demolition/destruction of substantial portions of the dwelling it was inadequate (not adequate for or unequal to the purpose of being a dwelling) and defective (wanting in something, incomplete, lacking a part, deficient) and faulty (not fit for the use intended). Any loss based on "destroying" the dwelling is excluded by the plain language of the exclusion.

Reynoso began rebuilding the dwelling in order to, as Fisher states, "repair" the damage to the dwelling. Moreover, the undisputed facts show that Reynoso intended to improve the dwelling for resale and profit. By definition and admission, rebuilding the dwelling involves

workmanship, repair and construction. Reynoso did not complete the construction of the dwelling or complete the repair of the damage, making that workmanship, repair and construction inadequate, defective and faulty. Any loss based on failing to rebuild or repair the dwelling is excluded by the plain language of the exclusion.

Regardless of the words used by Fisher to describe the causes of the loss, applying any of those causes to the plain meaning of the exclusion supports the application of that exclusion to Fisher's loss. The failure to complete the improvements, the demolition of the dwelling, the repair of the damage and construction of those repairs and the failure to complete the improvements or rebuild the dwelling were losses caused by faulty, inadequate or defective workmanship, repair, construction, renovation and/or remodeling of part or all of the dwelling.

The district court correctly ruled that the plain meaning of the exclusion applied to and excluded Fisher's loss. The district court should be affirmed.

b. <u>The Words, Terms, and Conditions Fisher Seeks to Add to the Exclusion</u>
Cannot Preclude Application of the Exclusion.

Fisher argues that the faulty, inadequate, or defective work exclusion does not apply because she did not authorize Reynoso to destroy the dwelling, the destruction was not done at her direction or done by her, she had no knowledge that Reynoso had "leveled" the dwelling, and she did not hire or have a contractual undertaking with her tenant to do the work or to repair the damage. Each of these arguments is made to avoid the application of the exclusion and requires adding words, terms, or conditions to the exclusion and ignore the plain meaning of the words actually used in the exclusion.

When analyzing the clear and unambiguous language of the faulty, inadequate, or defective work exclusion, this Court is constrained to construe it as written. *See Armstrong*, 147 at 69, 205 P.3d at 1205. This Court cannot add words to the contract of insurance to either create or avoid liability. *Id.* The faulty, inadequate or defective work exclusion has no language that Fisher authorize, direct, have knowledge of, perform herself, or hire out to a third person. To engraft these words, terms, and conditions onto the clear and unambiguous language violates long-established rules of contract construction. It fails to construe the policy as written. Adding words, terms and conditions creates a liability not assumed by Garrison. Fisher's request to add these words, terms or conditions should be rejected.

Support for not adding Fisher's words, terms, or conditions to the faulty, inadequate, or defective work exclusion is found in the presence of similar words and conditions in a different exclusion (intentional loss) and the absence of those terms and conditions in the subject exclusion (faulty, inadequate or defective work exclusion). The intentional loss exclusion in Fisher's policy provides:

- h. **Intentional Loss**, meaning any loss arising out of any act committed:
  - (1) by or at the direction of you or any person or organization named as an additional insured; and
  - (2) with the intent to cause a loss.

(R., p. 66.) (Appendix A.) There is no "by or at the direction of" the insured language in the faulty, inadequate, or defective work exclusion. *Id*.

As the district court held:

The conclusion that the faulty, inadequate or defective work exclusion provision is unambiguous is further supported by reviewing the language of the intentional loss provision. In that exclusion, whether an intentional loss was excluded depended expressly upon whether the loss arose out of an act committed "by or at the direction of the [insured]". The faulty, inadequate or defective work exclusion provision makes no mention of whether the work activity was done by or at the direction of the insured. The presence of this language in one exclusion and the absence of this language in another exclusion is telling. The absence of this language supports the conclusion that the policy did not intend to condition the faulty, inadequate or defective work exclusion on whether any work was undertaken by or on behalf of the insured.

(R., pp. 236-237.) The expression or inclusion of one thing implies the exclusion of another. *See Ace Realty Inc. v. Anderson*, 106 Idaho 742, 749, 682 P.2d 1289, 1296 (Ct. App. 1984). If Garrison had intended the faulty, inadequate or defective work exclusion to require that it apply only when the loss/work was done "by or at the direction of" the insured, it could have borrowed that language from the intentional loss exclusion. Garrison's failure to do so leads to a reasonable inference that it did not intend to limit the faulty, inadequate or defective work exclusion be limited to a loss arising out of work "by or at the direction" the insured. The absence of that language in the faulty, inadequate or defective work exclusion is indeed telling.

The clear and unambiguous language of the subject exclusion precludes adding Fisher's words, terms, or conditions in order to avoid its application. The district court correctly refused to add any words, terms or conditions to the exclusion. The district court should be affirmed.

c. Even if the Exclusion is Deemed Ambiguous and Interpreted to Include Additional Words, Terms, or Conditions, the Exclusion Still Applies.

Even if the Court adds Fisher's words, terms or conditions to the faulty, inadequate, or defective work exclusion, the undisputed facts show that even with the added language, the exclusion applies.

#### (1) Fisher Authorized Work to be Done to the Dwelling.

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